1952

# Norma D. Cox v. Cyril P. Thompson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT DECEASED WAS PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN ACTING WITH DUE CARE, AND SAID PRESUMPTION WAS NOT OVERCOME.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT

AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, AS THE QUESTION OF WHETHER OR NO DECEASED'S CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE, IF ANY, PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTED TO HIS DEATH WAS AN ISSUE OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AND IN REFUSING TO SUBMIT THE APPELLANT'S CASE TO THE JURY ON THE THEORY OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT DECEASED WAS PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN ACTING WITH DUE CARE, AND SAID PRESUMPTION WAS NOT OVERCOME.

The testimony fails to disclose with absolute certainty whether the deceased was walking, running or standing at the time of the impact, or whether he was looking and keeping a proper lookout for defendant's automobile, or the exact location on the highway where the impact occurred. The plaintiff, Norma D. Cox, testified that she only observed

decedent commence to walk toward the west side of the highway from a point six or seven feet east of the center zone, and that as she then turned to get into a parked automobile she heard the collision (T.R. 14). Alma Ferre, testified that he was standing in front of the Crown Cafe at the time of the accident, and that he watched the decedent walking toward the west side of the highway, but did not observe him closely for one or two seconds just prior to the impact (T.R. 53), however, he did witness the collision and testified that the decedent was struck while in lane 1, near the line which separated lanes 1 and 2 (Stipulated Diagram, T.R. 53, 54, 55).

Another witness, Ruth Ferre, testified that she saw the decedent turn around in the highway when six or seven feet east of the center zone, and commence to walk west, but did not observe him again until she saw him "flying through the air" (T.R. 108, 109).

Leon Wimber, a friend of the defendant, who was riding in the front seat of defendant's car at the time of the accident, testified that he first observed the decedent as a "dark shadow", which stepped from the left side of the car which was "in the east of us, directly into our lights, from the side" (T.R. 231). Further

testimony of this witness was to the effect that "when I first saw the man, he was to the left of the front of the car, and as we swerved, it brought the right fender over to where he was at, and he hit right about where the light and the hood come in contact there,"...(T.R. 233); that he did not believe the car had crossed into lane 1 at the time of the collision (T.R. 233). Such testimony, would tend to corroborate the testimony of Alma Ferre, supra, with regard to the point of impact being in lane 1, and even though this witness observed the decedent moving westerly, there is nothing to refute the possibility that decedent was then and there rightfully proceeding across lane 1 toward the line separating lanes 1 and 2 (Stipulated Diagram).

Karl Smith, also a passenger in defendant's automobile, testified that he first observed the decedent while the automobile was swerving to the southeast (T.R. 255, 261), and that the decedent was "standing" at a distance of 15 feet in front and about even with the center of the automobile which was swerving to the southeast (T.R. 255, 262). This witness did not observe whether the decedent was looking in any particular direction.

The defendant, Cyril P. Thompson, testified that he first observed the deceased as a "silhouette" to the left of the automobile (T.R. 290), and "as I stated, he stepped into the light, when I seen him, and he was stepping, and I swerved, and I glanced away from him to see if there were any other cars or anything coming, and I didn't see him again." (T.R. 293). Upon further cross examination of defendant, he testified as follows: (T.R. 295)

"Q. Now you didn't observe whether or not he was looking at you, did you ?

"A. I didn't observe that, no. I didn't have time. All I seen was him step in front of us, and that silhouette, and I swerved."

Defendant further testified that the decedant could have been as far as 19 steps (57 feet) or more in front of the automobile and to the left, at the time he was first observed (T.R. 292, 293).

In view of the testimony of the foregoing witnesses, regarding the conduct of the decedent, and the authorities hereinafter cited, it is plaintiff's contention that the presumption of due care, to which the decedent was entitled was not overcome, and to hold that the deceased was contributorily negligent as a matter of law, was error. The following cases are hereinafter cited in support of this contention:



In the recent case of *Mingus v. Ollson*, (Utah-1949), 201 Pac. 2nd 495, a pedestrian was struck and killed while crossing a highway in an extended cross walk. In this case the court ruled that the presumption of due care was overcome by the undisputed testimony of decedent's wife that that the decedent failed to look in any direction before stepping into the street. The concurring opinion states:

"Of course, if there was a complete absence of evidence as to whether he took any precautions to avoid the accident, then the law creates a presumption that he took reasonable precautions for his own safety and that he was injured in spite of such precautions.

"But here there was evidence from which the jury could reasonably find that he took no precaution for his own safety, and on the production of such evidence the presumption disappears from the case and the question must be determined from the evidence. Of course the facts upon which the presumption is based are still in evidence and if they have a logical tendency to prove that the decedent used reasonable care for his own safety, they may be considered in determining the question."

In the case of *Davis v. Denver and Rio Grande Western Railway Co.*, 45 Utah 17, 142 Pac. 705, the deceased was hit by defendant's train and there were no witnesses who testified regarding the facts surrounding the accident. In this case, the court gave the following instruction which, on appeal, was sustained as being proper:

"There is a presumption of law that every man exercises due care for his own safety when

in a place of danger and that deceased did so at the time and place when and where he met death, so that plaintiff was not required to prove affirmatively that deceased looked and listened for the train, the presumption being that he did so, and burden on defendant to prove otherwise, which was bound to establish that fact by a preponderance of the evidence."

In the recent case of Compton et al v. Ogden Union Ry. and Depot Company, (Utah-1951), 235 Pac. 2nd 515, the decedent was struck and killed by defendant's engine in its yard. At the conclusion of plaintiff's case the trial court entered a judgment of dismissal. At the time of the accident, the decedent was walking with a companion who accounted for all of her movements immediately prior to, and at the time she was struck.

The court in its opinion said that there is a strong presumption based on the instinct of self-preservation that the deceased was exercising due care for her own safety and which may take the place of evidence sufficient to make findings on, in the absence of other evidence. It then goes on to say:

"The presumption is applicable where there is no evidence as to care used, or perhaps where the evidence comes from an adverse witness who may be subject to disbelief by the jury, or where there is sufficient uncertainty in the evidence as to cast doubt on the testimony." (underlining ours).



Co., 37 Utah 431, 108 Pac. 638, an action was brought against defendant to recover for the wrongful death of decedent who was struck and killed by defendant's engine while crossing defendant's tracks with a team and wagon. The court there stated:

"It is a presumption of law that every man exercise due care for his own safety when in a place of danger, and the presumption is that deceased did so when he approached the crossing."

In the case of Clark et al v. Union Pacific Ry Co., 70 Utah 29, 257 Pac. 1050, the plaintiff brought an action to recover for wrongful death resulting from a collision at a railway crossing. There was a conflict in the testimony regarding the warnings given by defendant. However, it was established that the visibility was poor, and a fireman testified that he observed the decedent some 125 feet from the crossing and anticipated that he would stop for the train, but when he failed to do so he was struck and killed. There the court states:

"The burden of proving contributory negligence, of course, was on the defendant. In absence of evidence, there is a presumption that the deceased looked and listened, and did all that prudence and due care required..."

"The question thus is, does the record conclusively show that deceased failed to look and listen, and that by looking and listening he could have discovered the approach of the

train in time to have stopped and let it pass."

The court considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, found the question of contributory negligence to be for the jury and remanded for rehearing.

The most recent pronouncement of this point, which we have found, is set forth in the case of Tuttle v. Pacific Intermountain Express, (Utah-1952), 242 Pac. 2nd 764. In this case, the decedent was struck and killed while driving in his automobile upon a public highway. The evidence was conflicting as to whether or not the decedent had unexpectedly turned left in front of defendant's truck while both were traveling south, or whether defendant's machine crossed the center of the highway and collided with decedent's automobile traveling north. All of the eye witnesses testified that the collision occurred when decedent attempted to make a U-turn in front of defendant's tractor trailer. In the concurring opinion of Justice Crockett he says:

"The jury's verdict for the plaintiff plainly shows that they did not believe the deceased was going southward, but on the contrary their finding was that he was coming toward the north. Under those circumstances, there is no evidence whatsoever regarding his conduct just preceding his death. Therefore, the plaintiff is entitled to the presumption that he used due care

for his own safety, and upon that presumption the jury could base their refusal to find him guilty of contributory negligence."

In the case at bar, none of the witnesses saw whether decedent was keeping a lookout, and certainly the evidence is highly controversial as to the point of impact.

The cases are numerous in other jurisdictions dealing with this point, some of the most prominent of which are the following California decisions:

In a wrongful death case entitled *Blackmore v. Brennan*, 43 Cal. App. (2d) 280, 110 Pac. 2nd 723, where a motorist was struck and killed in an open intersection, the court there said:

"In the absence of evidence overcoming the presumption it should prevail.....In other words the jury was told in effect that it must determine whether sufficient evidence had been adduced to overcome that presumption."

In the case of *Rios v. Bennett*, 88 Cal. App. (2d) 919, 200 Pac. 2nd 73, the decedent was killed at night time while walking across the street diagonally out of the pedestrian lane. A witness testified that the deceased walked into the path of defendant's automobile which the witness had seen 70 to 75 feet away. There the court held:

"A presumption existed that a pedestrian struck...  
by an automobile used ordinary care for his own

safety and that in doing so he looked before he stepped out into the street."

The case of *Duehren v. Stewart*, 39 Cal. App. 201, 102 Pac. 2nd 784, is one where a pedestrian was struck and killed while crossing a highway in a crosswalk at an intersection at 8:00 P. M. Evidence was introduced that the decedent didn't turn his head or look. The lower court instructed the jury regarding presumption of due care, and on appeal the court stated:

"It has been repeatedly held that disputable presumptions are evidence in a case..., and such presumption may be controverted by other evidence. ...It has also been repeatedly held that it is a question for the jury to determine whether the presumption has been overcome by evidence offered in contradiction thereof...Respondents produced no evidence to determine what observations Mr. Duehren made just before he attempted to cross the street. Appellant offered no evidence as to whether the deceased looked prior to the time he stepped off the curb. Respondents were therefore entitled to the presumption above mentioned as their own evidence was reconcilable with it, and such presumption remained as evidence in the case until dispelled by evidence offered in contradiction thereof."

In the case of *Greenslitt v. Three Brothers Banking Company*, 170 Ore. 345, 133 Pac. 2nd 597, the decedent was struck by defendant's automobile as he ran across the highway in a diagonal direction. There the court held:

"The evidence tending to show negligence on his part is not of such conclusive character as to overcome such presumption as a matter of law. The issue of contributory negligence was properly submitted to the jury."

In the case of *Wiswell v. Shinnars*, 47 Cal. App.

(2d) 156, 117 Pac. 2d 677, a pedestrian was struck and killed while in the process of crossing a highway, and there was evidence to the effect that he was not in a crosswalk at the time of the accident. The court there said:

"In urging that the direct evidence furnished by an eye witness in this case dissipated the presumptions established by law, respondents fail to appreciate the limitations upon the power of the trial court when directing a verdict as such limitations are laid down in *Estate of Flood* and *Estate of Lances*, supra. Under the familiar rules there enunciated, when there is a showing on behalf of the plaintiff of certain facts as in the instant case, certain physical facts such as skid marks and their relation to the point of collision and the point at which the driver first applied his brakes; the speed of the automobile; the failure of the driver to sound his horn or otherwise give warning; the unobstructed view of deceased on the part of the driver for some considerable distance; the clearness of the weather and the dryness of the street, together with the presumptions relied upon; and when on the other hand, evidence both direct and circumstantial favorable to their cause, is introduced by defendants, the latter evidence must be eliminated from consideration by the court for the purpose of ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict.

"We therefore conclude that appellant was entitled to the benefit of the presumptions here claimed until dispelled by evidence opposed to



them, and that it was for the jury to determine whether the presumptions had been overcome by evidence offered in contradiction thereof, and which last-named evidence the court was not permitted to consider in ruling upon the motion for a directed verdict.

"Cases cited by respondents in support of their claim that the presumption is destroyed by evidence in contradiction thereof are all cases where appeals were taken from final judgments, in the rendition of which the court or jury was entitled to pass upon the weight of all the evidence submitted and to judge of the credibility of witnesses. Such power is not within the province of a court in ruling upon motion for non-suit or directed verdict."

From the cases cited where the presumption of due care has been an element dealt with, it should be noted that the courts have consistently allowed the question of contributory negligence to be submitted to the jury. In the case at bar, a reasonable man could find from the evidence that the deceased used due care by stopping in lane 1 to allow passage of defendant's vehicle, which he could legally and reasonably assume would continue in the lane of traffic which it occupied, rather than into his lane. Also, under many of the cases cited actual eye-witnesses have testified regarding the conduct of the deceased party which, if proven true, would establish contributory negligence, however, even under such circumstances the court has entertained the presumption of due

care and allowed the jury to determine whether the evidence has been sufficient to overcome it. In the case at bar, the evidence is totally lacking as to whether the deceased was keeping a proper lookout, and it would be a pure conjecture to say that he failed to look and see or that he continued to walk into the path of defendant's car oblivious to the circumstances then and there existing. It is for these reasons that we respectfully submit that the court erred in directing a verdict for the defendant and against the plaintiff.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIRECTING A VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF UPON THE GROUND THAT DECEASED WAS CONTRIBUTORILY NEGLIGENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN THAT CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS A QUESTION OF FACT FOR THE JURY.

In treating this point, we should first recognize the respective rights of the parties at the time the collision occurred. 57 -7-143, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, subsection (a) provides:

"Every pedestrian crossing a roadway at any point other than within a marked crosswalk or within an unmarked crosswalk at an intersection shall yield the right-of-way to all vehicles upon the roadway."

With respect to the law applicable under the

facts in question, it is stated in *Mingus v. Ollson*, 201 Pac. 2nd 495, (Utah-1949), where the court there said:

"The rights of pedestrians to the use of public streets are the same as those of motorists...neither greater nor less."

(See also Am. Jur. Vol 5, page 615, Section 201; *Blashfield*, *Cyclopedia of Automobile Law*, Vol. 2, Sections 1241, 1242, 1243).

The rule applies irrespective of what portion of the road or street the pedestrian may walk upon. Assuming that defendant was driving in lane 2 (Stipulated Diagram), as the evidence would tend to establish, all that was required of the decedent under the circumstances was that he yield to the defendant the right of way to the lane in which defendant was driving, provided however, that the defendant's automobile was then so near decedent as to make a crossing of the lane hazardous. Certainly the decedent was not required to yield to the defendant the full 96 foot highway or even half of same. He could rightfully assume that the defendant would not deviate from the lane in which he was traveling, particularly when, as from the evidence (T.R. 295), there was no necessity for doing so. Therefore, taking the interpretation of the evidence



most favorable to the plaintiff, it is contended by appellant that decedent had proceeded westerly across the highway into lane 1 (Stipulated Diagram), to a point near the east line of lane 2, and was there struck by the defendant's swerving automobile. This contention is supported by the following testimony:

Alma Ferre, the only eyewitness from a stationary position, testified that he saw the actual point of impact and placed same as being in lane 1 near the east line of lane 2 (T.R. 53, 54, 55). The testimony of defendant's witnesses, Karl Smith and Leon Wimber, referred to in point I (supra), would at best present a question of fact for the jury as to the exact point of impact and the conduct of decedent. To further support such a contention appellant refers to the time element involved. The testimony most favorable to the plaintiff would indicate that the decedent, if walking, was proceeding at 4.1 feet per second (T.R. 122, 123). To reach the east line of lane 2 (Stipulated Diagram), he would have walked a total distance of approximately 24 feet from the point where he reversed his direction, thus requiring approximately 5.9 seconds to do so.

The testimony of the plaintiff, to the effect that she observed the decedent turn around and start back and that she had just turned to get into a parked automobile when the collision occurred (T.R. 14), would tend to corroborate the testimony of Mr. Ferre placing the collision in lane 1. Also, the evidence on the part of the defendant's witnesses establishes the following:

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