1952

Norma D. Cox v. Cyril P. Thompson : Brief of the Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This action was instituted to recover the damages for the death of Jackson Blaine Cox, who was killed in an auto-pedestrian accident within the city limits of Orem, Utah, on U. S. Highway 91. This appeal is from the ruling of the lower court by the Honorable William Stanley Dunford directing a verdict in favor of the defendant because of the carelessness and negligence of the deceased in crossing the highway in the face of approaching traffic at night and outside of a marked crosswalk.

FACTS

As stated in Appellant's Brief, the accident occurred on U. S. Highway 91 from 50 to 100 feet north of the corner of U. S. Highway 91 and Center Street. Ralph A. Peters, Chief of Police of Orem City, one of the investigating officers, measured the distance from where Mr. Cox's body was lying after the accident to the north line of the sidewalk on the north side of Center Street as 50 feet (R. 162-165, Tr. 147-150). Considering the fact that the sidewalk on the north side of Center Street is some distance north of the corner of Center Street and Highway 91 and the fact that the body obviously was not lying at the exact point where Mr. Cox was struck, the actual distance would be somewhere around 75 or 80 feet.

To better illustrate the general scene of the accident, we are inserting a photostatic copy of Exhibit A referred to and marked by the various witnesses. This map was drawn to scale and stipulated to be correct by both parties with the exception that the center lines dividing the street are incorrectly shown. It was agreed by the parties that the center lines were composed of two sets of double lines with a neutral zone of three or four feet between the double lines (R. 25, 26 - Tr. 9, 10). There was no marked crosswalk at the place of the collision, nor at the corner of U. S. Highway 91 and Center Street. Nor was there any traffic control device for north-south bound traffic at that corner. Center Street extends in an easterly direction from U. S. Highway 91. Center Street stops at Highway 91 and does not continue on on the west side. There is a private gravel driveway opposite Center



Street on the west side of Highway 91. There are two lanes, each 12 feet wide, for traffic on each side of the highway plus a "parking lane" approximately 24 feet wide on each side. The total width of the street is 96 feet (Exhibit A).

The chain of events leading up to this accident is as follows:

Mr. and Mrs. Cox and three other couples, Alma and Ruth Ferre, Roy and Thelma Clark and Mayland and Betty Russell had planned to attend an Eagles' Dance at Provo, Utah (R. 22 - Tr. 6). Prior to going to the dance they gathered at the Clark home at Orem, Utah, at about 9:00 or 9:30 P.M. on January 20, 1951. According to Mrs. Clark, who served the liquor, each member of the party had at least two drinks prior to leaving (R. 128 - Tr. 112). The couples left the Clark home at about 10:00 P.M. and went to the dance at the Federation Room in Provo (R. 128 - Tr. 112). Mr. Cox, deceased, took two pints of whiskey to the dance with him (R. 45, 46, 47 - Tr. 29, 30, 31) which were consumed during the course of the evening, each party having at least two more drinks (R. 47, 64 - Tr. 31, 48). After the dance, the group returned to the Clark residence where they remained about half an hour when they decided to go to the Crown Cafe, which is located in the immediate vicinity of the accident on the west side of Highway 91 in Orem, Utah, (R. 65 - Tr. 49) (Exhibit A).

Mr. and Mrs. Cox left the Clark home in the Ferre automobile with Mr. and Mrs. Ferre. The other couples were to follow (R. 22 - Tr. 6). The Coxes and the Ferres

arrived at the Crown Cafe at about 1:00 A.M. (R. 23 - Tr. 7). They went down into the basement where the lounge of the cafe is located. Eight setups for mixed drinks were ordered (R. 23 - Tr. 7). When the two other couples did not arrive, Mr. Cox grew impatient and decided to go home. The Ferres and Coxes had left the lounge and were outside the cafe when the other two couples drove up in the Clark automobile (R. 23, Tr. 7).

Apparently all of the group, except Mr. Cox decided to return to the cafe. Just as Mrs. Cox was entering the cafe, Mrs. Ferre remarked to her, "Are you leaving? Are you going? Jack is leaving." (R. 40 - Tr. 24). Mrs. Cox turned and observed that Mr. Cox was proceeding across Highway 91 toward the east and was six or seven feet beyond or to the east of the double line in the center of the street (R. 28 - Tr. 12). His position on the highway at that time is shown by the black circle east of the center lines on Exhibit A. Mr. Cox was apparently on the way to his home, which is located five or six blocks away (R. 40 - Tr. 24). At the time he was dressed in dark clothing, a navy blue suit and a bluish gray top coat (R. 40, 41 - Tr. 24, 25). Mrs. Cox called to him and ordered, "Come on back. If you are going home, we will go in the car." (R. 41 - Tr. 25). Mrs. Cox saw Mr. Cox turn and start back across the street. She had turned to open the car door when she heard the screech of brakes. She did not see the actual impact nor the car which struck her husband prior to the time he was struck (R. 241 - Tr. 25).

Mr. Ferre was the only member of the group with Mrs. Cox, who claimed to see the accident. He had enter-

ed the cafe for a second time after the Clarks and Russells arrived but had again stepped outside when he noticed his wife and the Coxes were not with him (R. 68 - Tr. 52). He was standing at the point marked "XF" on Exhibit A and claims to have observed Cox over the top of an automobile, which was five feet high (R. 80, 81 - Tr. 64, 65). When the witness first saw Mr. Cox, Mr. Cox was on his way from the other side of the road in about the same position as when Mrs. Cox saw him, six or seven feet east of the center lines down the middle of the road (R. 69 - Tr. 53). The witness' attention was diverted for a second or two (R. 69 - Tr. 53). The next thing he saw was Mr. Cox flying through the air. He places the point of impact near the dividing line between the two south-bound lanes of traffic at the point marked "XF" on Exhibit A. He did not see the automobile which struck Mr. Cox prior to the impact (R. 74 - Tr. 58).

Defendant, Cyril Thompson, and his two companions, Leon Wimber and Karl Smith, were traveling to their home in Springville, Utah from a basketball game and movie in Salt Lake City (R. 243, 244 - Tr. 228, 229). All three were sitting in the front seat of the automobile, the defendant on the left, Leon Wimber on the right and Karl Smith in the middle (R. 244 - Tr. 229). Leon Wimber testified that they were travelling about 35 miles per hour and then continued (R. 246 - Tr. 231):

"Q. And what did you see?

A. I was watching the road ahead, and the lane of traffic in which we were traveling. The lights were on dim, because of the oncoming traffic. I saw a dark shadow step from the left hand

side of the automobile, which was in the east of us, directly into our lights, from the side. He stepped from the side into our lights. I saw a person move, from the east to the west, into our lane of traffic.

Q. How would you describe what you saw?

A. I saw a dark shadow, a dark object.

Q. Dark object, and what form did it have, if any?

A. My impression was that it was a man.

Q. Was it moving in either direction?

A. Yes.

Q. Which direction was he headed?

A. From east to west.

Q. Did you observe what direction he was looking?

A. West.

Q. And did you say he was moving from east to west?

A. Yes, he was moving in a westerly direction.

Q. Did he get — was he in your lane of traffic?

A. He moved into our lane of traffic.

Q. And how far did he get into your lane of traffic, the last you saw him there?

A. Half way across, approximately.

Q. Do you have any judgment as to how far ahead he appeared to be, how far ahead of the car?

A. I thought at the time it was probably 15 feet ahead of the car."

Continuing on page 248 (Tr. 233) :

"Q. Now what if anything did the car do that you were in, or that you observed that Cyril Thompson do, with respect to the car?

A. The car swerved sharply to the east.

Q. Did you see or hear an impact of any kind?

A. I saw an impact.

Q. And will you describe that to the best of your ability? State where it was and —

A. When I first saw the man, he was to the left of the front of the car, and as we swerved, it brought the right fender over to where he was at, and he hit right about where the light and the hood came in contact there, and rolled up over the right fender, partly on the hood, off of the fender and down to the side, immediately in front of myself.

Q. And was the point of impact within your lane of traffic?

A. It was.

Q. I believe you said that he had got to about the middle of your lane, or somewhere in there?

A. That's right.

Q. When this occurred, were you observing the two lines on either side of your lane of traffic?

A. Ahead of us, I was.

Q. Could you see those?

A. Yes."

Karl Smith testified that he looked up just as the car in which he was riding started to swerve and that there was a pedestrian about 15 feet in front of them. "He appeared to be in the middle of the southbound lane, and at the time of the impact, it just seemed to pick him up and just drop him off to the side of the center." (R. 270 - Tr. 255). He testified that the automobile was traveling south in the lane marked "2" on Exhibit A and that the area around the cafe at the place of the accident was "pretty dark." (R. 274 - Tr. 259).

Cyril Thompson, the defendant, testified he was driving his stepfather's Hudson automobile on the trip from Salt Lake to Springville. He and his companions left Salt Lake at approximately 12:30 A.M. (R. 281 - Tr. 266). He observed the single line on his left separating traffic lanes and estimates that this left line was two to three feet from the automobile (R. 285, 288, 304 - Tr. 270, 273, 289). His testimony concerning what he saw and did is as follows (R. 286 - Tr. 271):

"Q. Well, what was the first thing you did see that caused you any — caused you concern, if anything?

A. Well, I was just driving down the road, weren't saying anything, just driving, and I seen this — well, I seen Mr. Cox now. I seen him when he stepped into the lights. And that is the first time I seen him.

Q. What lights do you have reference to?

A. The headlights on the car. He stepped into the lane, where the lights go the strongest, down the center of the lane.

Q. Which direction was he going?

A. He was heading across the street west.

Q. Did you see him at any time face the car?

A. No, I couldn't see him. All I could see after I did see him was a silhouette. There was no form there at all, just a dark silhouette.

Q. When you first saw this silhouette in front of you, I will ask you how far ahead of you it was, appeared to be, as far as your vision was concerned?

A. Well, I could see the full length of him, and possibly — probably two or three feet of highway. I couldn't specify as to how much highway, but I could see the full height of the man.

Q. Was he on the move, or was he standing still, or do you know?

A. Well, his legs were apart, I could see — and I never seen him until he came into view into the lights from the side.

Q. Now prior to the time you saw him, where were you looking?

A. I was looking straight ahead, down the road.

Q. Could you see your lane of traffic?

A. Yes.

Q. Could you see the entire lane of traffic?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there anything there prior to the time he entered your lane?

A. Nothing. I couldn't see anything in the lane at all.

Q. Was he on the move when you saw him?

A. Yes, he had entered in from the side of the lights, and that is the first time I seen him was when he stepped into the light there.

Q. Could you tell which direction he was headed?

A. He was headed west.

Q. And what did you do if anything when you saw him?

A. Well, I could see him stepping to the west, so I immediately swerved the car to the east, which would have been my left.

Q. Were your hands on the wheel during this time?

A. Yes.

Q. Had they been on the wheel prior to the time you swerved?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you do anything else, other than swerve your car?

A. Well, at the same time I swerved, I probably depressed the clutch at the same time. It all happened at the same time. I swerved, depressed the clutch, and applied the brakes a small amount. I don't think I applied them all, completely, because of the force of stopping and turning too, it didn't seem reasonable.

Q. You did apply your brakes, you put your foot on the brakes?

A. Yes.

Q. As soon as you could?

A. Yes."

The physical facts of the accident are illustrated by Exhibit A and the testimony of Ralph H. Peters, Orem City Chief of Police, who testified that he was inside the Orem Fire Station of the Orem City Hall (Exhibit A, R. 159 163 - Tr. 144, 148). He was facing west and looking toward U. S. Highway 91. His attention was directed to the defendant's automobile as it swerved, (R. 172 - Tr. 157). He stated that he could see both headlights as the car swerved but was unable, at that time, to tell what had occurred (R. 160 - Tr. 145). He, together with Officer Cook got into the police car and drove out on the highway. As he left the entrance of the fire station and turned toward the highway, he saw Mr. Cox lying on the highway with Mrs. Cox bending over him (R. 172 - Tr. 157).

He stated that Mr. Cox was lying approximately on the line separating the first two southbound lanes of traffic (R. 161 - Tr. 146) 50 feet north of a perpendicular line drawn across U. S. Highway 91 from the north side of the sidewalk on the north of Center Street, (R. 162, 199 Tr. 147, 184) at the point where the red circle appears on Exhibit A. (R.166 - Tr. 151).

Small pieces of chrome from the headlights of defendant's car were found three to five feet north of Mr. Cox's body, shown by the two blue "X's" in the second lane west of the center highway on Exhibit A. Defendant's car stopped on the east side of the highway in front of the City Hall where the red rectangle appears on Exhibit A (R. 169 - Tr. 154). The distance from the pieces of chrome to the front of defendant's car at the point where it stopped is 67 feet (R. 176 - Tr. 161). The center

of damage to the car driven by the defendant was on the right front between the headlight and radiator (R. 188 Tr. 173).

Officer Peters noted that Mr. Cox's breath smelled of intoxicating liquor and that he was wearing dark clothing (R. 171 - Tr. 156). The witness testified that there was a dark spot encompassing that general area of the highway where the accident occurred (R. 171 - Tr. 156). The tire marks of defendant's automobile commenced in lane two on Exhibit A and extended across the highway to the east (Exhibit A, R. 174 - Tr. 159). In the officer's opinion, based upon the physical evidence, the defendant's automobile could not have been traveling over 35 miles per hour (R. 178 - Tr. 163).

Police Officer Cook, who assisted Officer Peters testified that he had observed the general area of the highway where the accident occurred on several occasions and that when the large neon sign of the Crown Cafe is out, there is a dark area in the highway where this accident occurred (R. 213, 216 - Tr. 198, 201).

Howard R. Jacobsen, Fire Chief at Orem, testified that Mr. Cox, after the accident, was lying across the line dividing the two southbound lanes of traffic with his feet in the second lane (R. 222 - Tr. 207).

At the conclusion of the evidence, the court directed a verdict for the defendant. The court's action was not error, as contended by appellant, for the foregoing reasons.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

Point No. 1. The presumption that deceased exercised due care disappeared when the positive evidence showed the deceased was guilty of contributory negligence.

Point No. 2. Under the evidence, the decedent was guilty of negligence as a matter of law.

Point No. 3. The causal connection between the negligence of the deceased and the accident was so patent as to preclude the submission of that issue to a jury.

Point No. 4. The evidence clearly shows that the doctrine of last clear chance could not be invoked and could not, therefore, be submitted to the jury.

POINT NO. 1

The presumption that deceased exercised due care disappeared when the positive evidence showed the deceased was guilty of contributory negligence.

In *Mingus v. Olsen*, 114 Utah 505, 201 Pac. (2d) 495, the evidence was that the deceased and his wife were crossing 13th East Street in the vicinity of Westminster Avenue in Salt Lake City, Utah. His wife testified that as "they stepped off the curb and started easterly across Thirteenth East Street, decedent was to her left or north; that he looked neither to his left nor right, but looked straight ahead as they proceeded across the street; that he said nothing to her about approaching traffic; that she did not hear or see defendant's automobile until it struck; and that they had proceeded about a quarter of the way (about 10 feet) across the street when they were

struck." A verdict was directed against the deceased's heirs and the verdict was attacked, as here, on the ground, among others, that the decedent was entitled to a presumption that the deceased exercised due care for his own safety. The court held:

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